The Emergenetics®Technical Report for Youth

The Office of Research

September 2023

Co-Creators: Wendell Williams, Ph.D. and Geil Browning, Ph.D.

Contributing Authors: Debbie McKelvey Brown, Ed.D. & Kayla Brown, Ph.D.



Dedication

This technical report is dedicated to Dr. Geil Browning, whose brilliant vision continues to inspire our commitment to improving the lives of young people.



Table of Contents

Introduction	4
Nomological framework	6
Professional Development of an Instrument	7
The Standards for Educational and Psychological Testing	7
The Emergenetics Youth Report	9
Reliability	11
Inter-Item Reliability	11
Test-Retest	12
Validity	14
Face validity	14
Contingency	16
Norming	23
Conclusion	24
References	25
Appendix A: Glossary of Terms	29



Introduction

"If we only knew how children preferred to learn, we could do a better job of teaching them." Geil Browning, Ph.D.

As a child, the founder of Emergenetics International, Geil Browning, Ph.D., would listen to her mother and grandmother discuss their worry about their students having trouble in school. At a very young age, Dr. Browning began to consider the idea that *if we only knew how children preferred to learn, we could do a better job of teaching them.* This idea stayed with Dr. Browning throughout her professional journey as she became a classroom teacher, school principal, University faculty member and the founder of Emergenetics International. Dr. Browning's passion for education was the impetus for the development of the Emergenetics[®] Youth Report. The Youth Report, like its adult counterpart, the Emergenetics Profile, captures how children from ages 10-18 prefer to think, learn, problem-solve and communicate.

Building from the norming studies of the adult Emergenetics Profile, co--creators Drs. Browning and Williams initiated the development of the Youth Report in 1997 with students at a high school in Louisiana. In 1998 the first norming study was conducted. The initial norming study normed by age and gender, with one hundred children represented at each age from 10-18.

The Emergenetics Youth Report survey items were assembled to form a nomological and empirical approach to behavior based on simplified verifiable observation. Emergenetics theory measures fundamental preferences for thinking and behaving at a situational level. These fundamental preferences follow socioanalytic theory and social theory, which suggest that specific human behaviors evolved as people learned to get along with each other, gain status, secure power and understand their place in the world.^{16,17} Social neuroscience and Emergenetics theory have grown and evolved from the foundation of socioanalytic and social theories. Social neuroscience connects the human brain and the body's physiology to understand behavior and how we interact with one another.¹⁸ By continuing to grow, the more comprehensive theories of social neuroscience and Emergenetics theory allow for the capacity to incorporate global and societal changes.¹⁹ Importantly, this allows Emergenetics to be at the forefront of the modern world, adapting to changing demands and meeting the needs of individuals.



Figure 1. The influences between socioanalytic theory, social theory, social neuroscience and Emergenetics theory





Nomological framework

A nomological framework provides a robust model that encourages participants to think of their Youth Report results as useful patterns that influence how they may interact with others. Importantly, while this approach allows for individuals to identify and think about important patterns in their own behavior and thinking, it does not constrain interpersonal interactions and allows for all individuals to engage in all behaviors and thinking patterns.

Below are a few examples of the nomological items gathered by the founders during the development of the Emergenetics Profile:

- Enjoys problem-solving and figuring out how things work
- Tends to be methodical
- Checks in with others for decision making
- Bases decisions on intuition rather than rigorous analysis
- Is willing to engage in dialogue or introspection
- Depending on the situation, takes a calm or driven approach
- Decides easily or is open to revision

As with all self-descriptive instruments, the Emergenetics Youth Report does not necessarily predict specific skills; however, when delivered in combination with an interactive workshop, participants are exposed to:

- Basic tools to improve job performance and communication
- Basic motivational drivers within a work environment
- Strengths and interests based on a heightened knowledge of personal preferences
- Techniques to understand how behavior affects others and how to translate this knowledge into more confidence and self-acceptance when working with others
- Ways to build a collaborative organizational workforce
- Tools for engaging in meaningful dialogue and information about the way they go about work



What does all this mean?

The Emergenetics Youth Report uses the same nomological framework as the Adult Profile to allow for individuals to self-identify with all thinking preferences and behaviors rather than constraining individuals to a particular type of thinking or behaving.



Professional Development of an Instrument

Put simply; a professionally developed survey should:

- Include a useful theory of behavior (i.e., practical)
- Be stable (i.e., reliable)
- Accurately measure what it is supposed to measure (i.e., valid)

These processes are expressly described in the Standards for Educational and Psychological Testing, an internationally accepted digest of best survey practices.²⁰ The Emergenetics instrument was developed in line with these standards that specify the criteria that all surveys must meet to be considered reputable.

The Standards for Educational and Psychological Testing

- 1. Items that load on a specific factor must be consistent with each other and with the factor score.
- 2. Factors within the test that are associated with each other should correlate, and factors that are independent should not.
- 3. Scores on the survey should directly relate to the content, construct, or criterion it is supposed to measure.
- 4. Items should resemble "legitimate" questions.
- 5. To an extent justified by the intended uses of the survey, steps should be taken to keep scores and scoring methods secure from tampering or observation by unauthorized people, detect and prevent faking (whether good or bad), and limit the ability of users to be 'coached' on how to make results more favorable.*

* This standard largely applies to instruments used for high stakes selection, compensation, or other administrative decisions,²¹ and not personal development or self-reflection; it did not factor heavily into the development of this instrument.

Following the guidelines outlined above, the founders took the following steps in developing the Emergenetics tool:

- Assembled lists of nomological items
- Constructed the questionnaire
- Administered the questionnaire to participants attending workshops
- Analyzed the questionnaire using a factor analysis
 - Examined scree-plots to identify discrete factors that were both statistically and rationally related
- Repeated this process to identify items that formed factors or clusters

The results were seven specific homogenous factors of item composites that define a specific personality space.¹⁷ The identified factors had suitable inter-item reliabilities within each factor



and were considered theoretically useful. Importantly, dysfunctional and socially undesirable items such as neuroticism, morality, ethics, and so forth were outside the scope of the survey and were excluded from the analysis.

Since the intent of the Profile was to provide robust and useful comparisons between and among individuals, two steps were taken to facilitate this process:

- 1. Raw scores for each factor were converted into normative percentile scores.
- 2. The four thinking preferences are additionally represented as a percentage mix.
 - This provides individuals with a robust profile (and partially corrects for surveyresponse bias) that accounts for what a person themselves considers important, how these preferences interact, and how strongly they present these preferences in a relationship.

Importantly, Emergenetics separates behavioral and thinking preferences. This separation improves upon a historical limitation in which there has been a tendency for many personality profiles to confound thinking preferences with behavioral preferences.



What does all this mean?

The Emergenetics Youth Report was developed in line with the educational and psychological standards. The seven Attributes of the Emergenetics Profile (four thinking Attributes and three behavioral Attributes) are based on a theory that is useful and practical, with results that are reliable and valid. The following sections will demonstrate the reliability and validity of the Attributes.



The Emergenetics Youth Report

The Emergenetics Youth Report includes:

- 84 Items
- Four-point Likert-scaled normative scored factors (with 8-12 items per factor)
- Within-factor inter-item reliabilities ranging between α = 0.43 and α = 0.78
- Ten-year test-retest reliabilities between *r* = .42 and *r* = .55
- Construct validation convergent/discriminate validation, and face validity
- Four thinking-style preferences based on percentile strength (interpersonal measure) and percentage mix (intrapersonal measure):
 - Analytical (ANA): having an interest in problem-solving, understanding complex subjects, and mental analysis
 - Structure (STR): prefers rules and regulations, stability, a hands-on approach, and avoiding risk
 - Social (SOC): intuitive about people, social concerns, working in teams, seeks approval from others
 - Conceptual (CON): intuitive about ideas, seeks unique activities, experimentation, futuristic
- Three behavioral descriptions based on percentile strength (interpersonal measure):
 - Expressiveness (EXP): based on a continuum from quiet and introspective to gregarious and exuberant
 - Assertiveness (ASR): based on a continuum from calm and peacekeeping to fastpaced and driven
 - Flexibility (FLX): based on a continuum from firm and focused to energized by change







Reliability

Reliability is a statistical test that evaluates the consistency of scores. This applies to both the consistency of the factors themselves or how the items that make up a factor are related (e.g., inter-item reliability) and whether factor scores are consistent over time (e.g., test-retest reliability).

Inter-Item Reliability

Inter-item reliability is a measure of how well individual item scores correlate with the overall factor score. We used the gold standard of Cronbach's Coefficient-Alpha to evaluate the reliability of each factor in the Emergenetics survey. Cronbach's Alpha refers to the average of all possible inter-item and split-half correlations, both strong and weak. Importantly, it does not rely on a single indicator of reliability which may contain large amounts of error.^{23,24}

The inter-item reliabilities of the Emergenetics Profile (N = 72,216) ranged from α = .48 to α = .78, with 8-12 items in each factor. Flexibility's reliability is on the lower side. This is likely due to misunderstanding or misinterpretation of the items that represent Flexibility. As we consider the differing developmental levels, youth may distinguish that their natural response is not aligned with their peer group or societal norms. Therefore, they may be providing an answer that may not be less reflective of their true behaviors and more in line with how they would like to be perceived.

Emergenetics Factor	Coefficient Alpha	
Analytical	α = 0.82	
Structural	α = 0.63	
Social	α = 0.67	
Conceptual	α = 0.78	
Expressiveness	α = 0.78	
Assertiveness	α = 0.73	
Flexibility	α = 0.48	

Inter Item Reliability



Test-Retest

Test-retest reliability refers to the stability of the survey over time. In other words, whether survey scores remain the same if the test is taken more than once by the same person.

To understand if the Emergenetics Youth Report has good test-retest reliability, we conducted a study that included 1631 students, who took the Emergenetics questionnaire at least two times. The average time between the two test was about 2 years.

- 1. To compare the test-rest results, we first examined bivariate correlations, which revealed that the scores the two scores were highly related to one another (correlations ranged from r = .42 and r = .55).
- 2. After conducting correlations, we then ran a paired samples t-test to examine if the scores from the first-time students took the questionnaire were statistically different from their second time. Overall, we found that all seven factors showed no statistically significant difference in scores.

When looking at the overall sample, we have 1631 students who took the test at least twice, with an average time between the first and second tests being about 2 years (1.7 years). When comparing the entire sample, the test re-test shows no difference in average scores across the attributes. In other words, we have a stable test re-test. Students who took the test within two years remain stable in their characteristics.

Emergenetics Factor	t-score	df	p-value
Analytical	0.50033	860	0.617
Structural	0.3781	860	0.7054
Conceptual	-0.028386	860	0.9774
Social	-1.3914	860	0.1645
Expressiveness	-0.80951	860	0.4184
Assertiveness	-0.38144	860	0.703
Flexibility	0.39491	860	0.693

Paired T-Test Results (All Ages)

If we break this down into our age groups, we see high stability within age groups as well. There is one exception to this, and that is, for 13 to 15-year-olds, assertiveness increases with age and



does not remain stable with test re-test. This may be due to the smaller sample size for the individual age groups (N for 13 to 15 = 114). This does not necessarily indicate an issue and may just be reflective of a small sample more than real differences or instability.

Paired T-Test Results (9 to 12)

Attribute	t-score	df	p-value
Analytical	0.29514	215	0.7682
Structural	-0.99518	215	0.3208
Conceptual	-0.28603	215	0.7751
Social	-1.837	215	0.0676
Expressiveness	0.071899	215	0.9427
Assertiveness	0.28487	215	0.776
Flexibility	-0.035802	215	0.9715

Paired T-Test Results (13 to 15)

Attribute	t-score	df	p-value
Analytical	-1.5257	103	0.1301
Structural	-0.02215	103	0.9824
Conceptual	-0.60582	103	0.546
Social	-0.18354	103	0.8547
Expressiveness	-0.56246	103	0.575
Flexibility	0.79464	103	0.4286
Assertiveness	2.411	103	0.01768

Paired T-Test Results (16 to 18)

Attribute	t-score	df	p-value
Analytical	-0.68001	36	0.5008
Structural	0.63825	36	0.5273
Conceptual	-1.0301	36	0.3098
Social	0.27821	36	0.7824
Expressiveness	-0.27722	36	0.7832
Assertiveness	-0.22241	36	0.9744
Flexibility	-0.032292	36	0.8253



What does all this mean?

The Emergenetics instrument is highly stable with good test-retest reliability. Children can take the survey again in 2 years and would likely get similar results. We know this because we had a group of 1631 children take the survey roughly 2 years apart and they had very similar results.



Validity

Evaluating the validity means evaluating whether the test measures what it is intended to measure. There are many different measures of validity, including:

- Face validity
- Convergent/Discriminate validity
- Predictive and concurrent criterion validity
- Construct validity
- Content validity

Since the Emergenetics Youth Report is a normative nomological instrument, we limit our evaluation of validity to face validity, convergent/discriminate validity, and construct validity.

Face validity

Face validity refers to how effective a survey or test appears to be in terms of its stated aims. The Emergenetics Youth Report aims to capture everyday behaviors and ways of thinking that young people may engage in.

To evaluate face validity, we randomly sampled 21 teachers and other adults who interact with children regularly and asked them, "To what degree do you feel the list of items included reflect everyday behaviors and preferences?" They rated this on a scale from 1 – strongly disagree to 5 – strongly agree. Each list contained a sample of questionnaire items that were related to a specific attribute.

We found that most individuals either agreed or strongly agreed that the attribute accurately described everyday behaviors of children.

These results suggest the thinking and behavioral items are, on their face, valid or representative of everyday behaviors.



Cluster 2	
1 – Strongly disagree	4.761905
2 – Disagree	19.04762
3 – Neither agree nor disagree	4.761905
4 – Agree	47.61905
5 – Strongly agree	23.80952

Cluster 4

1 – Strongly disagree	0
2 – Disagree	19.04762
3 – Neither agree nor disagree	4.761905
4 – Agree	33.33333
5 – Strongly agree	42.85714

Cluster 6

1 – Strongly disagree	4.761905
2 – Disagree	9.52381
3 – Neither agree nor disagree	4.761905
4 – Agree	23.80952
5 – Strongly agree	57.14286

Cluster 1

1 – Strongly disagree	4.761905
2 – Disagree	9.52381
3 – Neither agree nor disagree	19.047619
4 – Agree	33.333333
5 – Strongly agree	33.333333

Cluster 3

0
4.761905
23.80952
23.80952
47.61905

Cluster 5

1 – Strongly disagree	4.761905
2 – Disagree	28.57143
3 – Neither agree nor disagree	0
4 – Agree	38.09524
5 – Strongly agree	28.57143

Cluster 7	
1 – Strongly disagree	0
2 – Disagree	9.52381
3 – Neither agree nor disagree	19.04762
4 – Agree	23.80952
5 – Strongly agree	47.61905

What does all this mean?

The Emergenetics Youth Report is effective in its measurements. We know this because we had 21 individuals rate whether or not they agreed that items in the survey reflected everyday behaviors or ways of thinking for youth and the majority either agreed or strongly agreed.



Contingency

Researchers often use two techniques or statistical analyses to examine the relationship between two variables.

- 1. Correlation is one popular method to quantify how related or dependent a variable is with another variable. Mathematically, correlations are the process of fitting a line between two or more data points based on their mean and standard deviation.
 - For example, we can quantify the relationship between ice cream sales and shark attacks. *Most importantly,* correlations do not represent causal relationships. In other words, just because we find a correlation between ice cream sales and shark attacks *DOES NOT* mean that ice cream sales cause shark attacks.
 - Mathematically, we can break down a correlation such that a correlation of r = 0.50 simply tells us that a line can be drawn that minimizes the *plot distances* between roughly 25% of the data points (i.e., .5 squared). The remaining 75% of the data scatter is technically referred to as "unexplained variance."
- Contingency analysis is another popular method used in survey research to understand the relation between two variables. Pearson suggested that when researchers find that variables are highly commingled, a contingency analysis would better quantify the relations between variables.²⁶
 - For example, if we wanted to quantify how closely related paint colors on the same paint chip are, we would want to use contingency analysis. Paint colors on the same paint chips are highly similar to one another and therefore highly correlated, yet it is also sufficiently critical to quantify the differences as these differences may be critical when choosing a color.
 - Similar to correlation, relations quantified through contingency analysis **DO NOT** necessarily demonstrate causal relations.

We used contingency analysis to explore differences in thinking preferences and behaviors. We believe that contingency analyses represent a better understanding of the nomological relationship between a thinking preference and a specific behavior because it allows for the exploration of small yet meaningful differences that may exist.

Using a sample of 72,216 individuals, the below tables demonstrate contingencies for the Emergenetics thinking preferences and behaviors. To facilitate comparisons, we first z-scored the raw data to normalize and scale each factor, then divided each factor into bins of equal thirds based on percentiles.

The contingencies reveal that while each of the factors may be related using correlations, there are, in fact, important differences between factors. For example, it may seem that Analytical thinkers may be more likely to fit a stereotypical behavior of peacekeeping, yet the contingency table reveals that those in the top third of Analytical thinking were more likely to rate themselves in the top third of Assertiveness as opposed to the bottom third. Overall,



contingencies demonstrate the need for participants to hesitate to form conclusions about how people behave simply because they express a specific thinking preference.







Number of Individuals 10000 9000 8000 7000 First Third Ana Second Third Ana Third Third Ana Analytical Each of these graphs shows the crosstabs between Analytical thinking and the three behavioral Attributes. The size and color correspond to how many individuals fall into that category, with

larger circles indicating more individuals. Additionally, the more yellow a circle, the more individuals are contained in that category; as the color becomes greener and then blue, the number of individuals in that category decreases. For example, in the top right graph, we can see a medium green circle representing the number of individuals who are both third-third Analytical and third-third Expressive. Critically, we see that in each graph, there are individuals in all categories. Also, the size and color of the circles are randomly distributed throughout, such that there are no significant patterns.

emergenetics







Each of these graphs shows the crosstabs between Structural thinking and the three behavioral Attributes. The size and color correspond to how many individuals fall into that category, with larger circles indicating more individuals. Additionally, the more yellow a circle, the more individuals are contained in that category; as the color becomes greener and then blue, the number of individuals in that category decreases. For example, in the top left graph, we can see a large yellow circle representing the number of individuals who are third-third Expressive and firstthird Structural. Critically, we see that in each graph, there are individuals in all categories. Also, the size and color of the circles are randomly distributed throughout, such that there are no significant patterns.

emergenetics

10000

9000

8000

7000





Each of these graphs shows the crosstabs between Conceptual thinking and the three behavioral Attributes. The size and color correspond to how many individuals fall into that category, with larger circles indicating more individuals. Additionally, the more yellow a circle, the more individuals are contained in that category; as the color becomes greener and then blue, the number of individuals in that category decreases. For example, in the bottom left graph, we can see a that there are many green and yellow circles representing the number of individuals who are in each pairing. Critically, we see that in each graph, there are individuals in all categories. Also, the size and color of the circles are randomly distributed throughout, such that there are no significant patterns.





Each of these graphs shows the crosstabs between Social thinking and the three behavioral Attributes. The size and color correspond to how many individuals fall into that category, with larger circles indicating more individuals. Additionally, the more yellow a circle, the more individuals are contained in that category; as the color becomes greener and then blue, the number of individuals in that category decreases. For example, in the top right graph, we can see a large yellow circle representing the number of individuals who are both first-third Assertive and first-third Social. Critically, we see that in each graph, there are individuals in all categories. Also, the size and color of the circles are randomly distributed throughout, such that there are no significant patterns.



What does all this mean?

The results of these contingency analyses demonstrate that only knowing an individual's thinking preferences does not guarantee that you can predict their behavioral preferences or vice versa. We know this because in each of these graphs we see a variety of circle sizes in all position rather than a diagonal line of large circles.



Norming

Emergenetics International will regularly conduct a re-norming of our survey items. This process is a data-driven way to evaluate and ensure clarity for each of the seven Attributes. Importantly, the re-norming process allows us to account for how the manifestation of Attributes may adapt with societal changes.

For example, the evolution of technology has significantly influenced how humans interact with one another professionally and personally. In the last few years, we have seen transformations in the access and usability of technology. Broader access and ease of technology use have made it more efficient for most people to gain quick access to information. Historically access to this level of information was often limited to printed materials, television or radio. However, with increased access to the internet, social media, software applications and personal devices, information can now be easily accessed in a variety of ways, from podcasts to video tutorials to blog posts.

Norms for the Emergenetics Youth Report are also calculated by developmental stage. These groups represent children at different developmental stages. Given the rapid development of children's cognition and behavior patterns, it may be that behavioral preferences may change across developmental periods. For youth report norming, we use three different developmental stages 9 to 12 years old, 13 to 15 years old, and 16 to 18 years old.



Conclusion

The Emergenetics Youth Report indicates how children aged 10 - 18 years old prefer to think, learn, problem solve and communicate through seven Attributes. The seven Attributes are integrated and taken wholistically to display an individual's unique ways of thinking and behaving. The development of the Emergenetics Youth Report is supported by Emergenetics theory, which proposes humans have a combination of genetic tendencies to think and act in certain ways that have been influenced through socialization (Browning, 2007).

In both adults and young people, the data suggests the Emergenetics nomological approach to personality differences cuts across multiple lexical personality theory factors; shows construct validity, convergent/discriminate validity, and independent observer validity. Critically, individuals report that Emergenetics has robust utility in real-world applications. The unique and novel separation of thought preferences and behaviors provides a simple way for all youth to better understand interpersonal and intrapersonal differences in the way they may interact with the world. Emergenetics can help youth become more self-aware they will develop positive advocacy and agency skills necessary to navigate the 21st century world to become contributing and productive global citizens.



References

- Allport, G. W., & Odbert, H. S. (1936). *Trait-names: A psycho-lexical study*. Albany, NY: Psychological Review Company.
- American Psychological Association. (2014). Standards for educational and psychological testing. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- American Educational Research Association, American Psychological Association, National Council on Measurement in Education [AERA/APA/NCME]. (1999). *Standards for educational and psychological testing*. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association
- Ashton, M. C., Lee, K., Perugini, M., Szarota, P., De Vries, R. E., Di Blas, L., ... & De Raad, B. (2004).
 A six-factor structure of personality-descriptive adjectives: solutions from psycholexical studies in seven languages. *Journal of personality and social psychology, 86*, 356.
- Barrick, M. R., & Mount, M. K. (1991). The big five personality dimensions and job performance: A meta analysis. *Personnel Psychology*, 44, 1-26.
- Browning, G. (2006). Emergenetics: Tap into the new science of success. New York, NY: Harper Collins.
- Burns, W.C. (1996). Content validity, face validity, and quantitative face validity [online article]. Retrieved from http://www.burns.com/wcbcontval.htm
- Cattell, R. B. (October 1943). The description of personality: Basic traits resolved into clusters. *Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology*, 38 (4): 476–506. doi:10.1037/h0054116
- Costa, P. T., & McCrae, R. R. (1988). From catalog to classification: Murray's needs and the Five Factor Model. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 55, 258-265.
- Costa, P. T., & McCrae, R. R. (1992). *Revised Neo Personality Inventory (NEO-PI-R) and NEO Five-Factor Inventory (NEO-FFI)*. Psychological Assessment Resources.
- Cronbach, L. J. (1951). Coefficient alpha and the internal structure of tests. Psychometrika, 16,

297-334.

- Cronbach, L. J., & Meehl, P. E. (1955). Construct validity in psychological tests. Psychological Bulletin, 52, 281-302.
- Deiner, E., Larsen, R., & Emmons, R. A. (1984). Person x situation interactions: Choice of situations and congruence response models. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 47, 580-592.
- Drayton, M. (2009). The Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory-2 (MMPI-2). *Occupational Medicine, 59*, 135-136



- Ellingson, J. E., Sackett, P. R., & Connelly, B. S. (2007). Personality assessment across selection and development contexts: Insights into response distortion. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 92, 386–395. doi:10.1037/0021-9010.92.2.386.
- Fiske, D. W. (July 1949). Consistency of the factorial structures of personality ratings from different sources. *Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology*, 44 (3): 329–344. doi:10.1037/h0057198.
- Fiske, D. W. (1981). Problems with Language Imprecision: New Directions for Methodology of Social and Behavioral Science. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass. pp. 43–65.
- Furnham, A. (1992). Personality at work: The role of individual differences in the workplace. London: Rutledge.
- Furnham, A., & Stringfield, P. (1993). Personality and occupational behavior: Meyers-Briggs Type Indicator correlates of managerial practices in two cultures. Human Relations, 47 (7), 827-848.
- Furr, M. R. & Bacharach, V. R. (2007). Validity. In *Psychometrics: An Introduction* (pp. 191-235). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Goldberg, L. R. (1981) Language and individual differences: The search for universals in personality lexicons. In L. Wheeler (Ed.), Review of Personality and Social Psychology, Vol. 2. Beverly Hills, CA: Sage.
- Goldberg, L. R. (December 1990). An alternative "description of personality": The Big-Five factor structure. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 59 (6): 1216–1229. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.59.6.1216. PMID 2283588.
- Gottfredson, G. D., & Holland, J. L. (1991). *The position classification inventory*. Odessa, FL: Psychological Assessment Resources.
- Gough, H. G., (1956). *California Psychological Inventory*. Palo Alto, CA, England: Consulting Psychologists Press.
- Hoffman, B. J., Kennedy, C. L., LoPilato, A. C., Monahan, E. L., & Lance, C. E. (2015, March 23). A Review of the Content, Criterion-Related, and Construct-Related Validity of Assessment Center Exercises. *Journal of Applied Psychology*. Advance online publication. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/a0038707.
- Hogan, R., A socioanalytic theory of personality. Nebraska Symposium on Motivation, 1982, 55-89.
- Hogan, R., Jones, W. H., & Cheek, J. M. (1985). Socioanalytic theory: An alternative to armadillo psychology. In B. R. Schlenker (Ed.), *The self and social life* (pp. 175-198). New York: McGraw Hill.



- Hogan, R., Curphy, G. J., & Hogan, J. (June 1994). What we know about leadership. *American Psychologist*, 493-504.
- Hogan, R., DeSoto, C. B., & Solano, C. (April 1977). Traits, tests, and personality research. *American Psychologist*, 255-264.
- Hogan, R., Hogan, J., & Roberts, B. W. (May 1996). Personality measurement and employment decisions. *American Psychologist*, 51.
- Hogan, R., Raskin, R., & Fazzini, D. (1990). *The dark side of charisma*. In K. E. Clark & M. B. Clark (Eds.), Measures of Leadership (pp. 343-354). West Orange, NJ: Leadership Library of America.
- Hogan, R. T. (1991). Personality and personality measurement. In M. D. Dunnette & L. M. Hough (Eds.), Handbook of Industrial and Organizational Psychology, Vol. 2, pp. 873-919. Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychologists Press, Inc.
- Hogan, R. T. (2005). In defense of personality measurement: New wine for old whiners. Human Performance, 18, 331-341.
- Holland, J. L. (1985). *Making Vocational Choices: A Theory of vocational personalities and work environments*. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Holland, J. L. (1992). *Making vocational choices (2nd ed.)*. Odessa, FL: Psychological Assessment Resources.
- Kinder, A., & Robertson, I. T. (1991). Do you have the personality to be a leader? The importance of personality dimensions for successful managers and leaders. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 15 (1), 3-12.
- McCrae, R.R., & Costa, P.T. (1987) Validation of the five-factor model of personality across instruments and observers. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 52, 81-90.
- McCrae, R.R., & Costa, P.T. (1997) Personality trait structure as a human universal. *American Psychologist*, 52, 509-516.
- Mills, C., & Hogan, R. (1978). A role theoretical interpretation of personality scale item responses. *Journal of Personality*, 46, 778-785.
- Norman, W. T. (June 1963). Toward an adequate taxonomy of personality attributes: Replicated factor structure in peer nomination personality ratings. *Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology* 66 (6): 574–583. doi:10.1037/h0040291. PMID 13938947.
- Norman, W. T. (1967). 2800 personality trait descriptors: Normative operating characteristics for a university population. Ann Arbor, MI: University of Michigan, Dept. of Psychology.
- Ostroff, C. (1992). The relationship between satisfaction, attitudes, and performance: An organizational level analysis. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 77 (6), 963-974.



- Oswald, F. L., & Hough, L. M. (2010). Personality and its assessment in organizations: Theoretical and empirical developments. In S. Zedeck (Ed.), *APA handbook of industrial and organizational psychology: Vol. 2. Selecting and developing members for the organization* (pp. 153–184). Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Peabody, D., & Goldberg, L. R. (September 1989). Some determinants of factor structures from personality-trait descriptors. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 57 (3): 552– 567. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.57.3.552. PMID 2778639.
- (Pearson, K. 1903. On the theory of contingency and its relation to association of normal correlation, Mathematical contributions to the theory of evolution, Drapers Company Research Memoirs Biometric Series No.1, Department of Applied Mathematics, University college, University of London, Dulou and Company, London).
- Pittenger, D. (2005). Cautionary comments regarding the Myers-Briggs Type Indicator. *Consulting Psychology Journal: Practice and Research, 57*, 210-221.
- Revelle, W. (2013). Personality Theory and Research. *In The Personality Project*. Retrieved March 23, 2015, from http://personality-project.org/.
- Schmidt, F. L., & Hunter, J. E. (1981). Employment testing: old theories and new research findings. *American Psychologist*, 36 (10), 1128-1137.
- Tupes, E. C., & Christal, R. E. (1961). *Recurrent personality factors based on trait ratings*. United States Air Force.
- Zonderman, A. B. (1980). Inventory construction by the method of homogeneous item composites. Unpublished manuscript, Johns Hopkins University
- Van Zwanenberg, N., & Wilkinson, L. J. (1993). The person specification a problem masquerading as a solution? *Personnel Review*, 22 (7), 54-65.



Appendix A: Glossary of Terms

Construct validity: evidence that the test corresponds to other tests that measure the identified constructs

Content validity: evidence that the content of a test corresponds to the content of the construct it was designed to measure

Contingency analysis: a table representing the cross-classification of two or more categorical variables

Convergent validity: evidence that the test correlates with other measures of similar constructs

Discriminate validity: evidence that the test shows patterns of interrelationships with other variables

Face validity: evidence that the test items look like they measure the identified constructs

Inter item reliability: evidence of consistency that items measure the same construct

Nomological: a representation of concepts or constructs of interest in a study, their observable manifestations, and their interrelationships

Reliability: the ability of a measure to produce consistent results when the same entities are measured under different conditions

Test-retest reliability: evidence that the results of a test will remain stable over time

Validity: evidence that a test measures what it was set out to measure conceptually